2

No.                
                                        
       JUDICIAL DISTRICT 26

NORTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

*******************************************************

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
)


)

                        v.
)




)

 

ERIC WRIGHT
)

********************************************************

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT’S BRIEF

********************************************************

INDEX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
iii
ISSUE PRESENTED
1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
2
GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW
2
STATEMENT OF FACTS
3
STANDARD OF REVIEW
13
ARGUMENT
13
I.
The trial court erred by denying Mr. Wright’s motion to suppress because the evidence and statements were obtained after Mr. Wright was unlawfully seized
13
A.
The trial court’s findings of fact weren’t supported by competent evidence
14
i.
The cut through did not have any “no trespassing” signs at its entrance
14
ii.
Mr. Wright’s license was not returned after the frisk
15

B. Under the totality of the circumstances, officers mounted a show of authority which would make a reasonable person in Mr. Wright’s place feel like he was not free to leave to end the encounter
18
C.
Officers did not have reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Wright
22
i.
The informant’s information
23
ii.
The trespass
28

a.
The trial court did not conclude that Mr. Wright was trespassing
28
b.
Mr. Wright was not trespassing
29
c.
The evidence shows that officers didn’t actually believe Mr. Wright was trespassing at the time of the seizure
32

d.
Any mistaken belief officers may have had was unreasonable
35

D.
Because Mr. Wright was unconstitutionally detained, the contraband and statements must be suppressed
36
CONCLUSION
37
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

WITH RULE 28(j)
39
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
39
APPENDIX
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Cases
Ala. v. White, 

496 U.S. 325 (1990)
26

Brown v. Tex., 

443 U.S. 47 (1979)
33

Fla. v. J.L., 

529 U.S. 266 (2000)
27, 28
Fla. v. Royer, 

460 U.S. 491, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1983)
37

Florida v. Bostick, 

501 U.S. 429, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991)
18, 19

Heien v. North Carolina, 

574 U.S. 54 (2014)
35

Illinois v. Gates, 

462 U.S. 213 (1983)
26, 27
In re A.J. M.-B., 

212 N.C. App. 586, 713 S.E.2d 104 (2011)
29

In re Appeal of the Greens of Pine Glen Ltd. P’ship, 

356 N.C. 642, 576 S.E.2d 316 (2003)
13

In re J.L.B.M., 

176 N.C. App. 613, 627 S.E.2d 239 (2006)
24

In re R.D., 

2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173 (2012)
31, 32, 36
In re S.M.S., 

196 N.C. App. 170, 675 S.E.2d 44 (2009)
36

INS v. Delgado, 

466 U.S. 210, 80 L. Ed. 2d 247 (1984)
18

State v. Battle, 

109 N.C. App. 367, 427 S.E.2d 156 (1993)
35

State v. Benters, 

367 N.C. 660, 766 S.E.2d 593 (2014)
23, 25
State v. Blankenship, 

230 N.C. App. 113, 748 S.E.2d 616 (2013)
24

State v. Brooks, 

337 N.C. 132, 446 S.E.2d 579 (1994)
13

State v. Bullock, 

370 N.C. 256, 805 S.E.2d 671 (2017)
18

State v. Campbell, 

188 N.C. App. 701, 656 S.E.2d 721 (2008)
29

State v. Carver, 

828 S.E.2d 195 (2019)
28

State v. Cooke, 

306 N.C. 132, 291 S.E.2d 618 (1982)
13

State v. Crowell, 

204 N.C. App. 362, 693 S.E.2d 370 (2010)
24

State v. Eldridge, 

249 N.C. App. 493, 790 S.E.2d 740 (2016)
35

State v. Farrar, 

2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962 (2017)
30, 31, 36
State v. Harwood, 

221 N.C. App. 451, 727 S.E.2d 891 (2012)
37

State v. Hughes, 

353 N.C. 200, 539 S.E.2d 625 (2000)
23, 25, 26, 27, 28
State v. Icard, 

363 N.C. 303, 677 S.E.2d 822 (2009)
19, 20, 37
State v. Jackson, 

199 N.C. App. 236, 681 S.E.2d 492 (2009)
19, 20, 37
State v. Jackson, 

249 N.C. App. 642, 791 S.E.2d 505 (2016), aff’d, 

370 N.C. 337, 807 S.E.2d 14 (2017)
24

State v. Kincaid, 

147 N.C. App. 94, 555 S.E.2d 294 (2001)
19, 21

State v. Knudsen, 

229 N.C. App. 271, 747 S.E.2d 641 (2013)
20, 21
State v. Nixon, 

160 N.C. App. 31, 584 S.E.2d 820 (2003)
25, 26
State v. Parker, 

807 S.E.2d 617 (2017)
36

State v. Peck, 

305 N.C. 734, 291 S.E.2d 637 (1982).
19

State v. Smith, 

346 N.C. 794, 488 S.E.2d 210 (1997)
36

State v. Williams, 

209 N.C. App. 255, 703 S.E.2d 905 (2011)
32
State v. Williams, 

225 N.C. App. 636, 738 S.E.2d 211 (2013)
29

State v. Yancey, 

221 N.C. App. 397, 727 S.E.2d 382 (2012)
18

United States v. Drayton, 

536 U.S. 194 (2002)
21

United States v. Mendenhall, 

446 U.S. 544, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980)
19



Statutes
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a).
30, 36
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-979(b)
2


 

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1444(e)
2

No.                
                                        
       JUDICIAL DISTRICT 26

NORTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS

*******************************************************

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
)


)

                        v.
)

20 CRS 9084, 20378-81


)

 

ERIC WRIGHT
)

********************************************************

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT’S BRIEF
********************************************************
ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Whether the trial court erred by denying Mr. Wright’s motion to suppress when the evidence was obtained as a result of an unlawful seizure?
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 10 February 2020, Mr. Wright was indicted for felonious possession of a stolen firearm, possession of a controlled substance, carrying a concealed weapon, and possession of a firearm by a felon.  (R. pp. 3-14).  On 29 June 2020, Mr. Wright was also indicted for attaining the status of being a habitual felon.  (R. p. 15).

Mr. Wright moved to suppress all physical evidence and statements obtained as a result of the incident on 29 January 2020.  (R. pp. 28-38).   On 12 November 2020, the trial court orally denied his motion.  (T. p. 238-39).  A written order was signed and file-stamped on 21 April 2021.  (R. pp. 63-66). 


Mr. Wright pled guilty to all charges in Mecklenburg County Superior Court before the Honorable Lisa Bell, preserving his right to appeal the order denying his motion to suppress.  (T. p. 278; R. pp. 67-70).  The trial court sentenced Mr. Wright to 87 to 117 months of imprisonment, noting Mr. Wright’s intention to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress.  (R. pp. 69, 73).  Mr. Wright gave notice of appeal of the motion to suppress order in open court and filed written notice of appeal.  (T. pp. 243, 278, 285; R. pp. 69, 79).

GROUNDS FOR APPELLATE REVIEW


Mr. Wright appeals from the denial of his motion to suppress notwithstanding his guilty plea pursuant to  TA \l "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-979(b)" \s "N.C. Gen. Stats. § 15A-979(b)" \c 2 N.C. Gen. Sta TA \s "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-979(b)" ts. § 15A-979(b) TA \s "N.C. Gen. Stats. § 15A-979(b)"  and § 15A-1444(e) TA \l "§ 15A-1444(e)" \s "§ 15A-1444(e)" \c 2 .  To cure any possible defects in Mr. Wright’s notice of appeal, he has also filed a petition for writ of certiorari contemporaneously with this brief.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the suppression hearing, the only officers to testify were Christopher Martin and Benjamin Slaughter from the Charlotte Mecklenburg Police Department.  Martin’s and Slaughter’s body-worn camera videos were admitted into evidence at the hearing.  (State’s Exhibit 12-13).
 

On 29 January 2020, at around 6:20 p.m., Martin was on patrol as part of the crime reductions unit.  (T. p. 15-17).  He was in an unmarked SUV along with another officer, Officer Krause.  (T. p. 34).  Martin testified that he received information from a confidential informant that a Black male with dreadlocks wearing a dark jacket, orange tennis shoes, and blue jeans was carrying an illegal firearm.  (T. pp. 22-23).  The informant told Martin that the individual was riding a bicycle around the 100 block of Phifer Avenue and that he had recently been released from prison.  (T. pp. 23-24).  Martin testified that he had known the informant for about one and a half years and had “found the confidential informant’s information to be truth and reliable in other cases.”  (T. p. 22).  No other specifics were given about the confidential informant.

Slaughter was in his own vehicle and out looking for the suspect.  (T. p. 72).  Martin saw Mr. Wright, who matched the general description of the person identified by the informant, walking on Phifer Avenue.  (T. p. 24).  He didn’t immediately make contact with Mr. Wright to put distance between the informant and the suspect.  (T. p. 24).  Mr. Wright got on his bike, made a right on North Tryon Street traveling northbound, and then rode down a cut through located beside the 12th Street bridge overpass.  (T. p. 24-25).  Slaughter followed Mr. Wright down the path on foot, while Martin drove to meet up with Mr. Wright on the other side of the cut through.  (T. p. 25, 74).  

The cut through is a 1500 to 2000 foot long dirt path.  (T. p. 31).  It connects Tryon Street and College Street and runs parallel with 12th Street.  (T. p. 25).  If you are on Tryon Street and looking down the path, there is a vacant lot on the left side (State’s exhibit 6, R. p. 57) and the 12th Street bridge overpass on the right side (T. p. 33).  At the time of the hearing, the vacant lot was separated from the cut through by a chain linked fence.  (T. p. 32).  On the inside of the fence surrounding the vacant lot, there was a “no trespassing” sign that appeared to have fallen down.  (State’s Exhibits 6-7, R. pp. 57-58; T. p. 32-33).  The sign lists the owner of the property as Mecklenburg County.  (R. p. 58).  Martin testified that the “no trespassing” sign on the inside of the fence referred to the vacant parking lot.  (T. p. 33).  Martin also explained that the 12th Street bridge underpass has a “no trespassing” sign affixed to the one of the bridge pillars.  (T. p. 30; R. p. 54).  He claimed that all of the area other than the vacant lot was property owned by the City of Charlotte.  (T. p. 32).

As Martin and Krause waited for Mr. Wright to come out of the cut through, Martin asked, “that’s trespass, right?”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:00).  It sounded like Krause said “yes,” but Martin called over his radio to Slaughter and asked, “Slaughter, that area’s trespassing, right?”  (Id., 1:02).  Slaughter responded, “known drug area, that’s all I got” and followed up with “voluntary contact.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:11-1:13).  

Martin opened his door and told Mr. Wright, “hold up man.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:18).  Martin approached Mr. Wright who was on his bike on the sidewalk saying, “Yo, you doing alright?”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:22).  Martin asked Mr. Wright what his name was, and Mr. Wright told him.  (Martin BWC 1, 1:24-1:30).  Martin asked him where he was from because Martin “had never seen him over here.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:33).  Krause walked over and stood in front of Mr. Wright.  Martin asked Mr. Wright if he knew that that cut through was an area where “street level drug sales” occurred.  (Martin BWC 1, 1:42).  Martin also asked Mr. Wright if he had identification on him.  (Martin BWC 1, 1:46).  As Mr. Wright was getting his license out of his wallet, Martin told him, “that’s a nice bike,” and asked if he was homeless.  (Martin BWC 1, 1:59).  Martin said that he didn’t look homeless because he was dressed so well.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:04).  Mr. Wright said that he was homeless and that “they give us clothes out here.”  (Martin BWC 1, 2:10).  It appears from both body cam videos that Krause took the license, walked away, and got back in the SUV.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:07; Slaughter BWC 1, 00:14-00:23, 2:03).  

Martin told Mr. Wright to “step off” his bike.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:11, 2:28).  Martin also told Mr. Wright that he was going to pat him down and asked Mr. Wright to take his backpack off and unzip his jacket.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:16).  Mr. Wright complied but asked, “oh shit, what did I do?”  (Martin BWC 1, 2:20).  Martin told him, “nothing,” and that the pat down was necessary because he didn’t recognize Mr. Wright.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:28).  As the pat down occurred, Slaughter approached and told Mr. Wright, “Eric, what drew my attention was you riding the bike over there.”  (Martin BWC 1, 2:48).  Slaughter asked him, “you know what they do back there, right?”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 1:08).  Mr. Wright implied that he did and that he had seen people lying down back there.  Martin found a car key in Mr. Wright’s pocket and asked where Mr. Wright’s car was.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:59).  Mr. Wright told him that it had been repossessed.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:07).  

Martin asked Mr. Wright what was in his pants pocket, and Mr. Wright said it was his phone.  Martin told Mr. Wright to “take it out.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:09-15).  Mr. Wright complied and took everything out of his pocket; Martin said, “little vape, little vape, oh, couple of phones.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:14).  Mr. Wright also had a lighter in his pocket.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:15).  Mr. Wright explained that he used one of the phones to watch movies and the other to call his mother.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:20).  Martin handed him back his phones, lighter, and vape, saying “here take that, take that.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:26-28).  Martin appeared to return Mr. Wright’s cell phones.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 1:35-1:49;  Martin BWC 1 3:27).  Mr. Wright asked, “we good?”  Martin replied, “yeah you good.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:28).  During this part of the encounter, Krause is not present.  

Martin then asked, “you mind if I take a look in your bag?”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:30).  Mr. Wright said, “If I ain’t did nothing, what you want to look in my bag for?”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:34).  Mr. Wright said to “go ahead” but then stopped Martin and asked what he was looking for.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:38).  Martin asked again, “You said its cool if we look in the bag?”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:49).  Mr. Wright replied, “I mean, I really don’t want you to but . . . do I have a choice?”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:52).  Martin replied, “I’m asking you,” and asked whether he could “check” the backpack to see whether it had any weapons in it.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:57).  Mr. Wright said that he did mind, and Martin asked him “why?”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:59).  Mr. Wright replied that he didn’t know what they were trying to do and that he was “scared” because one officer walked up behind him and Martin just “searched” him.  (Martin BWC 1, 4:03).  As this is going on, Slaughter moved from his position by Mr. Wright’s bike to the other side of Mr. Wright, standing on the sidewalk in the direction of where Mr. Wright was traveling.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 2:06-2:22).  At this point, Mr. Wright was between the two officers.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 2:22).

Slaughter pointed to the cut through and told Mr. Wright that that was a “known drug area.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 2:29-33).  Martin repeated this, telling him it was a “known drug area.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 2:30).  Slaughter told Mr. Wright that they were “specifically looking for someone” and that “we want to make sure that you’re not that guy.”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:23).  Slaughter told Mr. Wright that they “can’t take him off the list” because he was being “deceptive.”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:27-4:30; Slaughter BWC 1, 2:45).  Mr. Wright again said that he was “scared” and cold.  (Martin BWC 1, 4:31).  When officers asked him what he was scared of, Mr. Wright said he was “scared of the police.”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:35).  


Martin again returned to the backpack, asking Mr. Wright if there were any guns in there.  (Martin BWC 1, 4:44).  Martin asked if he could “check” the backpack.  Mr. Wright said no because he “didn’t want them messing with it.”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:48).  


Slaughter then asked, “Eric, let’s do this. Can you open your bag for me?”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:51).  Mr. Wright replied, “sure.”  (Martin BWC 1, 4:53).  Mr. Wright held his bag open, and Slaughter told him to put it down so that he could look into it better.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:36).  Mr. Wright put it down on the ground, and Slaughter shined his flashlight into the bag.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:18).  Mr. Wright explained what was in there; when Mr. Wright tried to pick the bag back up, Slaughter told him “wait a minute” and “hold on.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:26).  Slaughter said he “couldn’t see” and told him to put it down again.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:27).  As he looked in again, Slaughter yelled “94, 94.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:32).  Slaughter said he saw a pistol grip, and officers immediately handcuffed Mr. Wright.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:39).  Slaughter asked Mr. Wright, “Is that a BB gun?”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:47).  Mr. Wright said that it was.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:48).  

Slaughter asked why he didn’t tell them about the gun, and Mr. Wright again replied that he was scared.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 3:57).   Slaughter replied that they “came at him so soft.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:00).  Slaughter told him that if “all” he had was a BB gun, that’s all he had to say.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:11).  Mr. Wright then admitted that it was a gun, not a BB gun.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:13).  Slaughter repeated Mr. Wright’s admission that it was a gun and said, “utterance, utterance.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:18-19).  

Krause walked over and pulled out what appears to be Mr. Wright’s identification out of his shirt pocket, showed it to Mr. Wright, and asked if he was worried and scared to tell police about the gun because he was a felon.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:41-45).  Mr. Wright replied that it was, and Krause said, “I get it.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:48).  It does not appear from the body cam video that Krause gave the license back to Mr. Wright but that he walked back to his car as another officer arrived on the scene.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 4:53).

Slaughter told him that he was under arrest for carrying a concealed weapon.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 5:03).  As. Mr. Wright began to say something, Slaughter interrupted to tell Mr. Wright that they would check out his felon status and that he was not trying to make Mr. Wright have a “spontaneous utterance.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 5:08-11).  


Slaughter told Mr. Wright that although he’d patted Mr. Wright down, Slaughter was going to do a full search.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 6:48).  Mr. Wright replied that he had some “hard” and marijuana on him.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 6:55).  During the search, Slaughter found a small amount of marijuana and cocaine in Mr. Wright’s hoodie pocket.  (Slaughter BWC 1, 8:30-50).  

As the search is going on, Slaughter told Krause that the gun came back “stolen.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 10:23).  Slaughter told Mr. Wright that he had been working that particular area for a long time and that the people they see cutting through that area “have our attention.”  (Slaughter BWC 1, 13:49).  

After Mr. Wright was transported back to police headquarters, Martin read him his Miranda rights.  (Martin BWC 3, 1:05).  Mr. Wright said that he would talk as long as Martin didn’t “ask him to snitch.”  (Martin BWC 3, 1:45).  Among other things, Mr. Wright admitted to using and selling drugs.  (Martin BWC 3, 6:27-7:00, 9:07, 9:39).  Mr. Wright explained that he had bought the gun because he was 50 years old and “couldn’t afford to be fighting.”  (Martin BWC 3, 10:07).  He admitted that he thought that the gun had been stolen.  (Martin BWC 3, 11:13, 11:49).    

There are several breaks in the body-cam videos.  Martin explained that he turned off the videos several times during this encounter to talk to other officers, when any investigatory phrase of the encounter had ended, and when the interview was over.  (T. p. 48, 52).  


The trial court orally denied Mr. Wright’s motion to suppress and later issued a written order denying the motion.  (T. p. 238).  The trial court found that officers: (1) received information from a confidential informant, (2) knew that the cut through was an area where street level drug transactions took place, and (3) saw Mr. Wright enter an area marked by a “no trespassing” sign.  (R. p. 63, FOF # 1-4).  The trial court also found that Mr. Wright provided his identification at the beginning of the encounter.  (R. p. 64, FOF #7).  With regard to when officers returned Mr. Wright’s identification, Judge Bell noted that “[it] wasn’t entirely clear from the video” when the license was returned.  However, based on Martin saying “here you go” and Mr. Wright then asking, “Are we good?” Judge Bell “took that to be the return of Mr. Wright’s wallet or personal belongings.[.]”  (T. p. 240).  In finding no. 13, the trial court found that Martin “appeared to have returned [Mr. Wright’s] identification card” after the frisk.  (R. p. 64).  
 
The court concluded that: 

· The encounter was voluntary because officers didn’t make any showing of force or intimidation and because Mr. Wright was free to leave prior to being handcuffed;

· Officers had reasonable suspicion and probable cause to “engage” with Mr. Wright based on the information provided by the confidential informant and the officers’ “knowledge of the area”;

· Mr. Wright freely consented to the search of backpack; and

· All of Mr. Wright’s statements made pre- and post-Miranda were admissible.

(R. p. 65).  Defense counsel put her objection to the ruling in the record.  (T. p. 243).
STANDARD OF REVIEW

“This Court’s review of the denial of a motion to suppress is limited to determining whether the trial judge’s underlying findings of fact are supported by competent evidence, in which event they are conclusively binding on appeal, and whether those factual findings in turn support the judge’s ultimate conclusions of law.”  State v. Cooke, 306 N.C. 132, 134, 291 S.E.2d 618, 619 (1982) TA \l "State v. Cooke, 306 N.C. 132, 134, 291 S.E.2d 618, 619 (1982)" \s "State v. Cooke, 306 N.C. 132, 134, 291 S.E.2d 618, 619 (1982)" \c 1 .  

The trial court’s conclusions of law are reviewed de novo.  State v. Brooks, 337 N.C. 132, 140–41, 446 S.E.2d 579, 585 (1994) TA \l "State v. Brooks, 337 N.C. 132, 140–41, 446 S.E.2d 579, 585 (1994)" \s "State v. Brooks, 337 N.C. 132, 140–41, 446 S.E.2d 579, 585 (1994)" \c 1 .  “Under a de novo review, the court considers the matter anew and freely substitutes its own judgment for that of the [trial court].”  In re Appeal of the Greens of Pine Glen Ltd. P’ship, 356 N.C. 642, 647, 576 S.E.2d 316, 319 (2003) TA \l "In re Appeal of the Greens of Pine Glen Ltd. P’ship, 356 N.C. 642, 647, 576 S.E.2d 316, 319 (2003)" \s "In re Appeal of the Greens of Pine Glen Ltd. P’ship, 356 N.C. 642, 647, 576 S.E.2d 316, 319 (2003)" \c 1 .  

ARGUMENT

I.
The trial court erred by denying Mr. Wright’s motion to suppress because the evidence and statements were obtained after Mr. Wright was unlawfully seized.

The three officers seized Mr. Wright when they told him to “hold up,” separated him from his property, took his identification, blocked his path, and were unwilling to accept his repeated refusals to consent to the search of his backpack.  Although officers alleged that they detained Mr. Wright because of information they received from a confidential informant, that tip must be analyzed under the anonymous tip standard.  The lack of any indicia of reliability and the officers’ failure to corroborate any of the information in the tip rendered it ineffective to justify the seizure.  

The State’s alternative purported basis for justifying the detention—that Mr. Wright was trespassing—also fails because the trial court didn’t conclude that officers had reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Wright because he was trespassing.  Moreover, Mr. Wright wasn’t trespassing.  And finally, even if this Court finds that officers did think he was trespassing, their belief was unreasonable.    

Because of the unlawful detention, Mr. Wright couldn’t consent to the search of his backpack.  Any evidence obtained and any statements made during the illegal detention and subsequent unconstitutional search and arrest must be suppressed.
A. The trial court’s findings of fact weren’t supported by competent evidence.  
i. The cut through did not have any “no trespassing” signs at its entrance.

In finding of fact no. 3, the trial court found that Mr. Wright entered a pathway marked by a “no trespassing” sign.  (R. p. 63, #3).  This finding is contrary to the evidence presented at the hearing.  There was a “no trespassing” sign posted on one of the pillars located underneath the 12th Street bridge overpass.  (Def. Exhibit 1, R. p. 51; R. p. 54-55).  And there was a “no trespassing” sign lying on the ground on the inside of the fenced in vacant lot on the left side of the path.  (State’s Exhibits 6-7, R. pp. 57-58; T. p. 32).  However, there was no evidence that the path was marked with a “no trespassing” sign either near the entrances or on the path itself.  The only “no trespassing” signs were located in other areas.
ii. Mr. Wright’s license was not returned after the frisk.


In finding no. 13, the judge noted that even though it wasn’t clear from the video, she “believed” that Mr. Wright’s identification or personal belongings were returned to him at around the time Martin asked him to pull everything out of his pants pocket, Martin returned those items, and Mr. Wright asked if they “were good.”  (R. p. 64, #13; Martin BWC 1, 3:20-28).  This inference isn’t supported by the video evidence.  


At the beginning of the encounter, officers requested Mr. Wright’s license, and Mr. Wright handed it to Krause, who then walked away with it.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:07; Slaughter BWC 1, 00:14-00:23, 2:03).  About a minute later, Martin told Mr. Wright to take everything out of his pants pocket, and Mr. Wright complied, giving Martin a lighter, some vapes, and two cell phones.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:09-15).  On the video, Martin confirmed what Mr. Wright gave him, saying “little vape, little vape, oh couple of phones.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:14).  

Then, Martin handed the items back to Mr. Wright, saying “take that.”  (Martin BWC 1, 3:26-28).  The only items shown being returned are Mr. Wright’s cell phones.  During this exchange, Martin doesn’t mention Mr. Wright’s identification, which is likely due to the fact that Martin wasn’t the one who took the license in the beginning.  Krause, not Martin, was the one who took Mr. Wright’s license in the beginning of the encounter.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:07; Slaughter BWC 1, 00:14-00:23, 2:03).  And Krause is not near Mr. Wright when this exchange took place.  


Moreover, later in the video, Krause can be seen holding what appears to be an identification card.  After Mr. Wright had been handcuffed, Krause pulled what appeared to be a license out of his shirt pocket, showed it to Mr. Wright, and asked him if he didn’t tell them he had a gun because he was a felon:


[image: image2.png]




(Slaughter BWC 1, 4:42-44).  Thus, contrary to the trial court’s finding, the evidence does not support the inference that Mr. Wright’s license had been returned immediately after the frisk.  Instead, the evidence established that officers still retained possession of Mr. Wright’s license at the time Mr. Wright allowed Slaughter to look in his backpack.

As defense counsel argued (T. p. 120, 127), it is unclear from the videos when the license was returned.  Neither the State nor officers at the hearing offered any evidence about when Mr. Wright’s license was returned.  However, what is clear is that the trial court’s finding that Martin returned the license after his initial frisk is unsupported by the body-worn cameras because Krause, the officer who initially took Mr. Wright’s license, is seen holding the license after the search of the backpack and after Mr. Wright had been handcuffed.  See State v. Bullock, 370 N.C. 256, 262-63, 805 S.E.2d 671, 677-78 (2017) TA \l "State v. Bullock, 370 N.C. 256, 262-63, 805 S.E.2d 671, 677-78 (2017)" \s "State v. Bullock, 370 N.C. 256, 262-63, 805 S.E.2d 671, 677-78 (2017)" \c 1  (Court reviewed video footage from the dash cam of the officer who had stopped the defendant to clarify or supplement the trial court’s findings to determine whether the trial court's findings of fact were supported by competent evidence).  Thus, the trial court’s inference about when Mr. Wright’s license was returned is unsupported by evidence.
B. Under the totality of the circumstances, officers mounted a show of authority which would make a 
reasonable person in Mr. Wright’s place feel like he was 
not free to leave to end the encounter.  

Generally, in what is commonly classified a “consensual encounter,” police officers are authorized to approach an individual in a public place and ask questions without triggering Fourth Amendment scrutiny.  Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991) TA \l "Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389, 398 (1991)" \s "Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389, 398 (1991)" \c 1 ; see also INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984). TA \l "INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 216, 80 L. Ed. 2d 247, 255, (1984)" \s "INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 216, 80 L. Ed. 2d 247, 255, (1984)" \c 1   However, a consensual encounter may transform into a seizure, which requires some minimal level of objective justification, i.e., reasonable suspicion.  Delgado, 466 U.S. at 217; see also State v. Yancey, 221 N.C. App. 397, 402, 727 S.E.2d 382, 387 (2012) TA \l "State v. Yancey, 221 N.C. App. 397, 402, 727 S.E.2d 382, 387 (2012)" \s "State v. Yancey, 221 N.C. App. 397, 402, 727 S.E.2d 382, 387 (2012)" \c 1 .

The test for determining whether an encounter with police is consensual or transforms into or rises to the level of a seizure or detention, implicating the Fourth Amendment, “is whether a reasonable person would feel free to decline the officers’ requests or otherwise terminate the encounter.”   TA \s "Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389, 398 (1991)" Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434.  As noted by our Supreme Court, “[a] reviewing court determines whether a reasonable person would feel free to decline the officer’s request or otherwise terminate the encounter by examining the totality of circumstances.”  State v. Icard, 363 N.C. 303, 308-309, 677 S.E.2d 822, 826 (2009) TA \l "State v. Icard, 363 N.C. 303, 308-309, 677 S.E.2d 822, 826, (2009)" \s "State v. Icard, 363 N.C. 303, 308-309, 677 S.E.2d 822, 826, (2009)" \c 1 .  The test is an objective one; the officer’s subjective belief as to whether a defendant is seized is irrelevant.  State v. Peck, 305 N.C. 734, 741, 291 S.E.2d 637, 641 (1982). TA \l "State v. Peck, 305 N.C. 734, 741, 291 S.E.2d 637, 641 (1982)." \s "State v. Peck, 305 N.C. 734, 741, 291 S.E.2d 637, 641 (1982)." \c 1 
Relevant circumstances include, but are not limited to, the number of officers present, whether the officer displayed a weapon, the officer’s words and tone of voice, any physical contact between the officer and the individual, whether the officer retained the individual’s identification, or property, the location of the encounter, and whether the officer blocked the individual’s path.
 TA \s "State v. Icard, 363 N.C. 303, 308-309, 677 S.E.2d 822, 826, (2009)" Icard, 363 N.C. at 309, 677 S.E.2d at 827; see also United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980) TA \l "United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497, 509 (1980)" \s "United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497, 509 (1980)" \c 1 .  While courts will consider the totality of all the circumstances, our appellate courts have consistently recognized that when officers retain a suspect’s driver’s license or identification, no reasonable person would feel free to leave.  See generally, State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 243, 681 S.E.2d 492, 497 (2009) TA \l "State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 243, 681 S.E.2d 492, 497 (2009)" \s "State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 243, 681 S.E.2d 492, 497 (2009)" \c 1 ; State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 299 (2001) TA \l "State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 299 (2001)" \s "State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 299 (2001)" \c 1 .

Contrary to the trial court’s conclusions of law nos. 3, 5, and 6 (R. p. 65), officers mounted a show of authority because, under the totality of the circumstances, no reasonable person in Mr. Wright’s position would feel free to leave. Specific factors that weigh in favor of seizure include whether the police or the defendant initiated the encounter, the number of officers, and whether the officers were in uniform and armed.  Icard, 363 N.C. at 310, 677 S.E.2d at 827.  Two officers initiated this encounter by coming up behind Mr. Wright and telling him to “hold up.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:22-1:39).  A third, back-up officer came out from the cut through where Mr. Wright had just come from.  See id.  (Martin BWC 1, 2:52).  At this point, Mr. Wright was surrounded by three police officers in uniform who wore weapons as part of those uniforms.  See State v. Knudsen, 229 N.C. App. 271, 283, 747 S.E.2d 641, 650 (2013) TA \l "State v. Knudsen, 229 N.C. App. 271, 283, 747 S.E.2d 641, 650 (2013)" \s "State v. Knudsen, 229 N.C. App. 271, 283, 747 S.E.2d 641, 650 (2013)" \c 1  (holding that the defendant was seized where two armed police officers stopped the defendant on the sidewalk and asked what he had in his cup).

Another important factor that supports a seizure was that officers separated Mr. Wright—who was homeless—from the only property he had: his license, backpack, and bicycle.  Icard, 363 N.C. at 310, 677 S.e.2d at 827.  Krause took his license and retained it throughout the encounter.  See Jackson, 199 N.C. App. at 243, 681 S.E.2d at 497 (holding that an encounter becomes consensual only after an officer returns a person’s driver’s license); State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 298 (2001) TA \l "State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 298 (2001)" \s "State v. Kincaid, 147 N.C. App. 94, 99, 555 S.E.2d 294, 298 (2001)" \c 1 .  As our appellate courts have noted, id., no reasonable person would feel free to terminate an encounter if officers retain possession of the person’s license.

Furthermore, officers acted in a way to indicate to Mr. Wright that he was required to consent to the search.  See United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194, 206 (2002) TA \l "United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194, 206 (2002)" \s "United States v. Drayton, 536 U.S. 194, 206 (2002)" \c 1  (looking at whether officers indicated that the defendant was required to consent to a search).  Throughout the encounter, Mr. Wright told officers he was scared and cold.  Officers asked a total of five times to search his backpack.  (Martin BWC 1, 3:30-57).  Mr. Wright asked multiple times if he had a choice as to whether officers searched his backpack.  Although officers repeatedly told him that they were just “asking” to search, they didn’t accept Mr. Wright’s refusals, acting as if Mr. Wright couldn’t refuse their requests to search.

Moreover, officers blocked Mr. Wright in.  Slaughter and Martin stood on either side of Mr. Wright on the sidewalk, “impeding [Mr. Wright’s] continued movement along the sidewalk.”  Knudsen, 229 N.C. App. at 283, 747 S.E.2d at 650.  (Martin BWC 1, 4:11).  


Another factor is that officers acted in a way that gave Mr. Wright reason to believe that he was required to answer their questions.  See   Drayton, 536 U.S. at 197 (determining whether a seizure occurred based on, in part, whether the officers gave an indication that the defendant was required to answer their questions).  Even though Mr. Wright was compliant with officers, Slaughter accused him of being “deceptive.”  They told him that he wasn’t doing everything he needed to so that officers could “take him off the list,” as if Mr. Wright was required to refute their accusation without knowing what he was being accused of doing.  No reasonable person would think he could walk away if officers told him he was on an unknown “list” of people they were looking for and accused of being deceptive.  

Based on all the circumstances surrounding this encounter, no reasonable person in Mr. Wright’s position would feel free to decline the repeated requests of officers or walk away.  Contrary to the trial court’s conclusion that this was a consensual encounter, this was a seizure.  
C. Officers did not have reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Wright.

Officers needed, but did not have, reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Wright.  The State offered, and the trial court considered, two justifications for the detention.  First, the State contended that officers were justified based on the information they received from a “confidential informant.”  Second, the State contended that Mr. Wright was trespassing when he took the cut through between College and Tryon Streets and that this area was a known drug area.  Neither purported basis for the seizure have merit.
i. The informant’s information.


Because the State relied upon the information officers received from their informant, the informant’s reliability is a crucial consideration in determining whether that information constituted sufficient reasonable suspicion to justify the detention.  Whether information given to police came from an informant who was merely anonymous or one who could be classified as confidential and reliable will be based on the reliability of the informant himself.  State v. Benters, 367 N.C. 660, 665, 766 S.E.2d 593, 598 (2014) TA \l "State v. Benters, 367 N.C. 660, 665, 766 S.E.2d 593, 598 (2014)" \s "State v. Benters, 367 N.C. 660, 665, 766 S.E.2d 593, 598 (2014)" \c 1 .  When there is insufficient evidence as to the reliability of the informant, the courts should analyze the value of the tip based on the anonymous tip standard, not the confidential informant standard.  Id. at 666, 766 S.E.2d at 598.  

As noted by our Supreme Court, factors to consider as to whether an informant should be considered a confidential and reliable informant include whether “the informant had been previously used and had given accurate information or that his statement was against his penal interest[.]”  State v. Hughes, 353 N.C. 200, 204, 539 S.E.2d 625, 628 (2000) TA \l "State v. Hughes, 353 N.C. 200, 204, 539 S.E.2d 625, 628 (2000)" \s "State v. Hughes, 353 N.C. 200, 204, 539 S.E.2d 625, 628 (2000)" \c 1 .  However, an officer’s conclusory statement that the informant was confidential and reliable is insufficient on its own to justify use of the confidential informant standard.  Id.  

Here, contrary to finding of fact 1
 and conclusion of law no. 2, there was insufficient indicia of reliability to warrant use of the confidential and reliable informant standard.  The tipster’s information did not implicate his penal interest.  Moreover, the only information about the tipster’s reliability was Martin’s testimony that he had known the informant about a year and a half, that he had “been able to corroborate information given” to him by the informant in the past, and that he had found the informant truthful and reliable.  (T. p. 22).  But there was no information as to why the informant was reliable and truthful.  See State v. Jackson, 249 N.C. App. 642, 648-649, 791 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2016), aff’d, 370 N.C. 337, 807 S.E.2d 14 (2017) TA \l "State v. Jackson, 249 N.C. App. 642, 648-649, 791 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2016), aff’d, 370 N.C. 337, 807 S.E.2d 14 (2017)" \s "State v. Jackson, 249 N.C. App. 642, 648-649, 791 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2016), aff’d, 370 N.C. 337, 807 S.E.2d 14 (2017)" \c 1 .  There was no specific information provided as to the informant’s track record with regard to previous arrests.  Cf. State v. Crowell, 204 N.C. App. 362, 363, 693 S.E.2d 370, 371-372 (2010) TA \l "State v. Crowell, 204 N.C. App. 362, 363, 693 S.E.2d 370, 371-372 (2010)" \s "State v. Crowell, 204 N.C. App. 362, 363, 693 S.E.2d 370, 371-372 (2010)" \c 1  (declining to consider the informant an anonymous tipster, in part, because the officer gave detailed information about his track record).  It was unclear whether Martin had even met with the tipster face to face in the past.  See State v. Blankenship, 230 N.C. App. 113, 116, 748 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2013) TA \l "State v. Blankenship, 230 N.C. App. 113, 116, 748 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2013)" \s "State v. Blankenship, 230 N.C. App. 113, 116, 748 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2013)" \c 1  (noting that the officers’ failure to meet the informant face-to-face made it impossible for them to judge his credibility firsthand or confirm the tip’s reliability and, therefore, analyzing the tip under the anonymous tip standard).  Nor did the trial court make any findings regarding the reliability of the informant’s information other than the conclusory finding that Martin received information from a confidential informant.  (R. p. 63, FOF # 1-2).

The State’s only attempt to meet the reliability burden in order to analyze the tip under the confidential informant standard was Martin’s conclusory testimony that he had known the informant about one and half years and that he had been reliable in the past.  Without more, there was insufficient indicia of reliability to treat the tipster’s allegations under confidential and reliable informant standard.  See Hughes, 353 N.C. at 205, 539 S.E.2d at 629 (rejecting the use of the confidential informant standard when the only information as to the informant’s reliability was the officers’ conclusory statement that he was reliable).

Without sufficient indicia of reliability, the Court should review the information based on the anonymous tip standard.  Benters, 367 N.C. at 666, 766 S.E.2d at 598-599.  “An anonymous tip can provide reasonable suspicion as long as it exhibits sufficient indicia of reliability. . . . [or] police corroboration.”  Hughes, 353 N.C. at 207, 539 S.E.2d at 630; see also State v. Nixon, 160 N.C. App. 31, 34, 584 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2003) TA \l "State v. Nixon, 160 N.C. App. 31, 34, 584 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2003)" \s "State v. Nixon, 160 N.C. App. 31, 34, 584 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2003)" \c 1  (“The difference in evaluating an anonymous tip is that the overall reliability is more difficult to establish, and thus some corroboration of the information or greater level of detail is generally necessary.”).  Other indicia of reliability that the State may show to justify a warrantless stop include the informant’s “basis of knowledge” and “reliability” or “veracity” of the information.  Ala. v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 328 (1990) TA \l "Ala. v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 328 (1990)" \s "Ala. v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 328 (1990)" \c 1 ; Nixon, 160 N.C. App. at 34, 584 S.E.2d at 822.

The State failed to provide any other indicia of reliability.  Because Martin provided no specifics about the informant at the hearing, there was no “basis for concluding that the anonymous [tipster] was credible.”  Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 229 (1983) TA \l "Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 229 (1983)" \s "Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 229 (1983)" \c 1  (cleaned up).  Thus, the “veracity” factor was not satisfied.  Id.  There was no information provided as to how the informant knew the information about Mr. Wright, i.e., his “basis of knowledge.”  White, 496 U.S. at 328.  And finally, Martin offered no specifics as to how the informant had been “reliable” in the past.  Thus, because the information in the tip lacked “overall reliability,” officers needed to corroborate the tip.  See Hughes, 353 N.C. at 207, 539 S.E.2d at 630.

 But there was no corroboration by the officers prior to the stop.  As noted by our Supreme Court, corroboration isn’t established merely from the fact that the individual met the description given to the officers by the anonymous tipster.  Id. at 210, 539 S.E.2d at 632.  

[A]n accurate description of a subject's readily observable location and appearance is of course reliable in this limited sense: It will help the police correctly identify the person whom the tipster means to accuse. Such a tip, however, does not show that the tipster has knowledge of concealed criminal activity. The reasonable suspicion here at issue requires that a tip be reliable in its assertion of illegality, not just in its tendency to identify a determinate person.
Id. (italics added).

The informant provided Martin with a description of a Black male with dreadlocks wearing a jacket, bright orange tennis shoes, and blue jeans who was riding a bicycle around the 100 block of Phifer Avenue and was carrying an illegal firearm.  (T. p. 23; R. p. 63, FOF #2). Although Mr. Wright matched that general description and was found in the general area of Phifer Avenue, there was no police corroboration of the information as to the alleged criminal act, only as to Mr. Wright’s identity.  Thus, officers didn’t have reasonable suspicion simply because Mr. Wright met the description given to the officers.  See id.; Fla. v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272 (2000) TA \l "Fla. v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272 (2000)" \s "Fla. v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 272 (2000)" \c 1 .  

Moreover, the tip failed to offer any information that could be independently corroborated by officers prior to the stop.  While the tip indicated generally the area in which Mr. Wright could be found, it did not include any detail information of his “future actions . . . not easily predicted.”  Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 245 (1983) TA \l "Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 245 (1983)" \s "Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 245 (1983)" \c 1 .  Without those “range of details” that could be corroborated by officers, Hughes, 353 N.C. at 209, 539 S.E.2d at 631, it isn’t reasonable to think the tipster had “inside knowledge about the suspect” to credit his allegation about the illegal firearm.  See J.L., 529 U.S. at 270.  Information that a suspect is heading in a general direction “is simply not enough detail in an anonymous tip situation.”  Hughes, 353 N.C. at 210, 539 S.E.2d at 632.

Under the anonymous tip standard, without the requisite indicia of reliability and based on the lack of police corroboration, the tip established no more than a hunch that Mr. Wright was engaged in criminal activity when Mr. Wright was detained.  See State v. Carver, 828 S.E.2d 195, 200 (2019) TA \l "State v. Carver, 828 S.E.2d 195, 200 (2019)" \s "State v. Carver, 828 S.E.2d 195, 200 (2019)" \c 1 .  
ii. The trespass.
a. The trial court did not conclude that Mr. Wright was trespassing.


In its order, the trial court did not conclude that Mr. Wright was trespassing at the time of the stop.  Although the trial court found that there was a “no trespassing” sign posted underneath the overpass
, the trial court’s order only referred to the officers’ “knowledge of the area” as the basis for the stop.  (R. p. 65, COL #2).  But that “knowledge of the area” had to do with the officers’ knowledge that homeless people congregated in that area and that the area was known “to be an area of street level drug transactions,” not that officers knew Mr. Wright was trespassing when they stopped him.  (R. p. 63, FOF # 4-5).  Because the trial court did not consider trespassing as part of its analysis as to whether officers had reasonable suspicion, nor should this Court.  See State v. Campbell, 188 N.C. App. 701, 706, 656 S.E.2d 721, 725 (2008) TA \l "State v. Campbell, 188 N.C. App. 701, 706, 656 S.E.2d 721, 725 (2008)" \s "State v. Campbell, 188 N.C. App. 701, 706, 656 S.E.2d 721, 725 (2008)" \c 1  (refusing to consider factors and circumstances not specifically found by the trial court that may support a showing of reasonable suspicion, noting that: “[T]his Court's task is not to review the record de novo for every fact that may tend to support or defeat a showing of reasonable suspicion. Instead, our role is simply to determine whether the trial court's findings of fact are supported by the evidence and whether those findings support the court's conclusions of law.”).  In other words, this Court only examines the trial court’s actual findings and conclusions, not those that the trial court could have made.
b. Mr. Wright was not trespassing.


Even if this Court finds that officers suspected Mr. Wright was trespassing despite the evidence to the contrary and the absence of that particular determination in the trial court’s order, there was no evidence that Mr. Wright was actually trespassing.  The burden is on the State to present sufficient specific and articulable facts to warrant the stop at the suppression hearing.  State v. Williams, 225 N.C. App. 636, 638, 738 S.E.2d 211, 214 (2013) TA \l "State v. Williams, 225 N.C. App. 636, 638, 738 S.E.2d 211, 214 (2013)" \s "State v. Williams, 225 N.C. App. 636, 638, 738 S.E.2d 211, 214 (2013)" \c 1 ; In re A.J. M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 592, 713 S.E.2d 104, 109 (2011) TA \l "In re A.J. M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 592, 713 S.E.2d 104, 109 (2011)" \s "In re A.J. M.-B., 212 N.C. App. 586, 592, 713 S.E.2d 104, 109 (2011)" \c 1 .


The only trespassing statute at issue is second degree trespass under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)(2) TA \l "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)(2)" \s "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)(2)" \c 2 .  A person commits the offense of second-degree trespass if, without authorization, he enters or remains on premises of another “[t]hat are posted, in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders, with notice not to enter the premises.  N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a). TA \l "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)." \s "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)." \c 2   The State failed to present evidence that there were any “no trespassing” signs posted in a manner reasonably likely to come to Mr. Wright’s attention.  

Although the State introduced photographs of two “no trespassing” signs, signage alone doesn’t trigger culpability for second degree trespass.  See State v. Farrar, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962, *9 (unpublished) TA \l "State v. Farrar, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962, *9 (unpublished)" \s "State v. Farrar, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962, *9 (unpublished)" \c 1  (holding that the “limited testimony” about a single “no trespassing” sign attached to a tree near the entrance of a driveway failed to satisfy the requirement that the premises were “posted, in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders, with notice not to enter.”).  One of the signs was lying on the ground on the inside of a fence that surrounded a vacant lot.  (R. pp. 57-58).  Martin testified that this particular “no trespassing” sign only applied to the parking lot inside the fence, not the cut through.  (T. p. 33).  

The picture of the “no trespassing” sign under the 12th Street bridge overpass didn’t establish that the cut through was “posted, in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders” that they couldn’t use the cut through.  The sign was affixed to a pillar of the underpass, a separate area from the cut through itself as shown in State’s Exhibits 3 and 4.  (R. pp. 54-55; T. p. 31).  There was no evidence that this particular sign would be visible to someone entering the cut through after dark because nothing established that this sign was illuminated or even visible from the entrance of the cut through.  Moreover, it isn’t reasonable to believe that anyone seeing the sign in the underpass would have any indication that it applied to an unrelated area down the road.  Thus, neither “no trespassing” sign was “posted, in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders” that they could not enter the cut through.


Furthermore, the State failed to provide any evidence that there were any signs “posted, in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders, with notice not to enter” at either end of the well-used cut through or on it.  Id.  In In re R.D., 2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173, *9 (2012) (unpublished) TA \l "In re R.D., 2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173, *9 (2012) (unpublished)" \s "In re R.D., 2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173, *9 (2012) (unpublished)" \c 1 , this Court held the notice element of second-degree trespassing was sufficient to support reasonable suspicion when juveniles were found in a city park around midnight and there were signs “located near the park entrance” and “at the edge of the park” indicating the park was closed to the public at 9 p.m.  Contrary to In re R.D., the State offered no evidence of any signs “near” the cut through indicating that it could not be used.  In fact, State’s Exhibit 4, which shows one of the entrances to the cut through, had no signs posted at all.  (R. p. 56).  And the fact that Martin claimed that Mr. Wright was trespassing because the cut-through was on city property is unavailing.  The notice element isn’t rendered unnecessary simply because the property belongs to the city.  See id.  

Thus, the State failed to meet its burden of showing that Mr. Wright was trespassing by using the cut through.
c. The evidence shows that officers didn’t actually believe Mr. Wright was trespassing at the time of the seizure.


Although the State argued that Mr. Wright’s “trespassing” gave officers reasonable suspicion at the hearing, the body-worn camera evidence shows that officers did not believe that he was trespassing at the time of the detention.  Therefore, they didn’t believe criminal activity was “afoot[,]” i.e., happening, when they seized Mr. Wright.  Both Martin and Slaughter said that the actual basis of their suspicion was that the cut through was an area of “known drug activity.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:42; Slaughter BWC 1, 2:33).  

When asked whether he thought Mr. Wright was “trespassing,” Slaughter replied, “known drug area, that’s all I got” and tried to describe the encounter as a “voluntary contact.”  (Martin BWC 1, 1:11-1:13).  Their later formed belief that Mr. Wright was trespassing is irrelevant because what matters is the officers’ reasons for stopping Mr. Wright at the time of the seizure.  State v. Williams, 209 N.C. App. 255, 262, 703 S.E.2d 905, 910 (2011) TA \l "State v. Williams, 209 N.C. App. 255, 262, 703 S.E.2d 905, 910 (2011)" \s "State v. Williams, 209 N.C. App. 255, 262, 703 S.E.2d 905, 910 (2011)" \c 1  (The determination of whether officers had reasonable suspicion “turns on an objective assessment of the officer's actions in light of the facts and circumstances confronting him at the time” of stop.).  


Officers repeatedly stated their justifications for the detention on the videos, stating that what had drawn their attention to Mr. Wright was the fact that he rode his bicycle through a “known drug area,” that they didn’t recognize him, and that they couldn’t take Mr. Wright off their list because he was being deceptive.  Officers did not say anything about trespassing after the initial discussion over the radio.  And being in a known drug area and not being recognized by officers aren’t sufficient on their own to provide reasonable suspicion.  See Brown v. Tex., 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979) TA \l "Brown v. Tex., 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979)" \s "Brown v. Tex., 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979)" \c 1 .

Martin testified at the hearing that, had officers not found any contraband on Mr. Wright, he would have given him a verbal warning for trespassing.  (T. p. 53).  However, Martin admitted that Slaughter specifically told him that he didn’t think Mr. Wright was trespassing when he took the cut through.  (T. p. 55).  At the hearing, Slaughter tried to explain why he told Martin that Mr. Wright was not trespassing at the time of the encounter, testifying that

Normally, when we’re dealing with confidential informants, we don’t want to – we want them to know the least information possible on it, so that’s why I said voluntary contact.  So if you can do it voluntary, but I also have trespass as well because it’s trespassing through the area.

(T. p. 100).  But Slaughter’s testimony doesn’t make sense.  When he told Martin that all he knew was that Mr. Wright was coming from a “known drug area” and that it was a “voluntary contact,” he was only speaking over the radio to other officers who were in their patrol car, waiting for Mr. Wright to exit the cut through.  There was no need to protect the informant when he said it.  


In its response to Mr. Wright’s motion to suppress, the State contended that officers had reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Wright based on the collective knowledge of other officers, conceding that Martin “was not certain” if Mr. Wright was trespassing.  (R. p. 45).  Specifically, the State contended that because Krause “knew the area and knew the defendant had trespassed by walking through the ‘cut through,’” the fact that other officers didn’t think or didn’t know if Mr. Wright was trespassing didn’t matter.  While officers may rely on the collective knowledge of other officers to justify a stop, that reliance has limits:  

If the officer making the investigatory stop (the second officer) does not have the necessary reasonable suspicion, the stop may nonetheless be made if the second officer receives from another  officer (the first officer) a request to stop the vehicle, and if, at the time the request is issued, the first officer possessed a reasonable suspicion that criminal conduct had occurred, was occurring, or was about to occur.
State v. Battle, 109 N.C. App. 367, 370-371, 427 S.E.2d 156, 159 (1993) TA \l "State v. Battle, 109 N.C. App. 367, 370-371, 427 S.E.2d 156, 159 (1993)" \s "State v. Battle, 109 N.C. App. 367, 370-371, 427 S.E.2d 156, 159 (1993)" \c 1 .  Thus, the collective knowledge doctrine only applies if the first officer’s knowledge survives constitutional scrutiny.  But, as discussed above, because Mr. Wright was not trespassing, Krause’s suspicion that Mr. Wright was trespassing was not reasonable and doesn’t justify the stop.
d. Any mistaken belief officers may have had was unreasonable.

Nor can the officers’ mistaken belief that Mr. Wright was trespassing provide reasonable suspicion.  An officer's “mistake of law can . . . give rise to the reasonable suspicion necessary to uphold [a] seizure under the Fourth Amendment.”  Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 57 (2014) TA \l "Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 57 (2014)" \s "Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 57 (2014)" \c 1 .  However, only objectively reasonable mistakes are sufficient.  Id. at 66.  This Court has noted that, in order for an officer’s mistake of law to be objectively reasonable, the statute at issue must be ambiguous and there must be an absence of case law interpreting the ambiguous statute.  State v. Eldridge, 249 N.C. App. 493, 499, 790 S.E.2d 740, 743-44 (2016) TA \l "State v. Eldridge, 249 N.C. App. 493, 499, 790 S.E.2d 740, 743-44 (2016)" \s "State v. Eldridge, 249 N.C. App. 493, 499, 790 S.E.2d 740, 743-44 (2016)" \c 1 . 


Initially, it should be noted that the trial court didn’t consider whether the officers held a reasonable, but mistaken, belief that Mr. Wright was trespassing.  As discussed earlier, the trial court didn’t even conclude that Mr. Wright was trespassing.  Furthermore, the trespassing statute at issue here—N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)(2) TA \s "N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14-159.13(a)(2)" —is neither ambiguous nor subject to inconsistent interpretation.  Cases interpreting the statute have repeatedly found that signs must be posted and “reasonably likely” to give a person notice that she was not authorized to go onto the premises.  See In re S.M.S., 196 N.C. App. 170, 173, 675 S.E.2d 44, 46 (2009) TA \l "In re S.M.S., 196 N.C. App. 170, 173, 675 S.E.2d 44, 46 (2009)" \s "In re S.M.S., 196 N.C. App. 170, 173, 675 S.E.2d 44, 46 (2009)" \c 1 ; Farrar, 2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962, *9; In re R.D., 2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173, *8-10.  Thus, because the second degree trespassing statute is unambiguous and consistently interpreted, any mistaken belief that officers had that Mr. Wright might have been trespassing was unreasonable and, thus, insufficient to establish reasonable suspicion.
D. Because Mr. Wright was unconstitutionally detained, the contraband and statements must be suppressed.

It was during the illegal seizure that Mr. Wright consented to officers’ fifth request to search his backpack.  Although lawful consent may justify a warrantless search, the consent must be given voluntarily.  State v. Smith, 346 N.C. 794, 798, 488 S.E.2d 210, 213 (1997) TA \l "State v. Smith, 346 N.C. 794, 798, 488 S.E.2d 210, 213 (1997)" \s "State v. Smith, 346 N.C. 794, 798, 488 S.E.2d 210, 213 (1997)" \c 1 .  Consent that is given during a period of unreasonable or unlawful detention is not voluntary.  State v. Parker, 807 S.E.2d 617, 622 (2017) TA \l "State v. Parker, 807 S.E.2d 617, 622 (2017)" \s "State v. Parker, 807 S.E.2d 617, 622 (2017)" \c 1 .  


Here, Mr. Wright consented during an unlawful detention.  Thus, contrary to the erroneously labeled finding of fact no. 17 and conclusion no. 7, it was involuntary, and the gun found as a result of that search is tainted by the illegality and should have been suppressed.  See Fla. v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229, 236 (1983) TA \l "Fla. v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229, 236 (1983)" \s "Fla. v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 497, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229, 236 (1983)" \c 1  (noting that because the defendant’s consent to search was given while he was being illegally detained, “the consent was tainted by the illegality and was ineffective to justify the search”); Icard, 363 N.C. at 311, 677 S.E.2d at 828 (concluding that “because the search of defendant’s purse occurred after she was illegally seized but before the taint of the illegal seizure could have dissipated,” any evidence obtained as a result of that search must be suppressed).  

Moreover, contrary to conclusions nos. 8 and 9, because Mr. Wright was arrested as a consequence of the discovery of the gun in his backpack, the cocaine and marijuana found during the search incident to the arrest must be suppressed, State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 244, 681 S.E.2d 492, 498 (2009) TA \l "State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 244, 681 S.E.2d 492, 498 (2009)" \s "State v. Jackson, 199 N.C. App. 236, 244, 681 S.E.2d 492, 498 (2009)" \c 1 , as well as any inculpatory statements Mr. Wright made as a result of the illegal detention and the subsequent search and arrest, State v. Harwood, 221 N.C. App. 451, 462, 727 S.E.2d 891, 900 (2012) TA \l "State v. Harwood, 221 N.C. App. 451, 462, 727 S.E.2d 891, 900 (2012)" \s "State v. Harwood, 221 N.C. App. 451, 462, 727 S.E.2d 891, 900 (2012)" \c 1 .
CONCLUSION

As set out above, Mr. Wright requests that the Court reverse the order denying his motion to suppress.
This the * day of May, 2021.
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State v. Farrar, 


2017 N.C. App. LEXIS 962 (2017) (unpublished)
App. 1-4
In re R.D., 


2012 N.C. App. LEXIS 1173 (2012) (unpublished)
App. 5-9
� On the DVD labeled State’s Exhibit 12, there are three mp4 files.  For purposes of this brief, and based on the chronology of the videos, the video labeled “Firearm_By_Felon-2.mp4” will be referred to as “Martin BWC 1,” the “Firearm_By_Felon.mp4” video will be “Martin BWC 2,” and the “Firearm_Felon.mp4” video will be referred to as “Martin BWC 3.”  





On the DVD labeled State’s Exhibit 13, there are two files.  The video labeled “CCW_Weapon-2.mp4” will be referred to as “Slaughter BWC 1,” and the “CCW_Weapon.mp4” video will be referred to as “Slaughter BWC 2.”


� In this screen shot from the video, Mr. Wright is standing on the right side.  Martin is bending over in the middle of the frame, looking in Mr. Wright’s backpack.  And Krause’s hand is coming from the left side, holding what appears to be Mr. Wright’s license.


� To the extent that finding of fact 1 actually contains a conclusion of law that the informant was a “confidential informant,” it should be treated as a conclusion of law on appeal because the determination of whether an informant is an anonymous tipster or confidential informant “require[s] the exercise of judgment and application of legal principles.”  In re J.L.B.M., 176 N.C. App. 613, 619, 627 S.E.2d 239, 243 (2006)� TA \l "In re J.L.B.M., 176 N.C. App. 613, 619, 627 S.E.2d 239, 243 (2006)" \s "In re J.L.B.M., 176 N.C. App. 613, 619, 627 S.E.2d 239, 243 (2006)" \c 1 �.  Thus, this erroneously labeled finding of fact should be reviewed de novo as a conclusion of law.  Id.


� The trial court also made a finding that the path was designated with a “no trespassing” sign.  However, as discussed above, there was no evidence that the path had any “no trespassing” signs on it.
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